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Memorandum 

Date: 5/2/2025 

To: Mr. Sean Homyen, Planning and Zoning Administrator 

Company: City of the Village of Douglas 

From: Lucas Timmer, P.E. 

Project #: 2250320 

Re: Swingbridge and Union Street Drainage 

  

Today the Douglas DPW, you, and I met on site to review the issues pertaining to the 2010 

Swingbridge Development and the Union Street Boat Launch relative to the parcel owned by 

Joseph Milauckas (176 Blue Star Highway, Parce Number 59-016-016-00). Following this 

meeting, we received records from the City of Douglas pertaining to these issues. Below is a 

summary of these issues and some comments regarding our review both in the field and in 

the office of the documents received.  

Swingbridge Emergency Access Drive and Culvert 

We first reviewed the Swingbridge emergency access that was part of the proposed 

development drawings (see below) but does not appear to have been constructed. When this 

driveway is constructed, it is recommended that a driveway culvert is installed to not 

continue to block drainage on parcel 59-016-016-00 site from the south (upstream) to the 

north (downstream). There is evidence anecdotally, from state contour data, and historic 

aerials that before the Swingbridge development was in place that this area had a swale that 

flowed to the north into Kalamazoo Lake. This swale currently appears blocked and as part 

of the emergency access construction, a culvert should be installed to return flow to the north 

towards Kalamazoo Lake.  

Drainage East of Union Street Boat Launch Parking Lot 

Review also occurred at the Union Street Boat Launch Parking Lot regarding the drainage 

swale. In March of 2008, the City of Douglas and Joseph Milauckas entered into a revocable 

license agreement to allow the City to use parcel 59-016-016-00 for public use parking. The 

license agreement also indicates that the site before 2008 already had existing parking, 

signage, and a light pole on the property that were being used for this boat launch (known as 

“Improvements” in the easement document). The conditions of this agreement allow the City 

to use and maintain the “Improvements” (per Section 1 of this license agreement). In 

addition, if the City were to alter or change any portion of the property due to the 

“construction or maintenance of the Improvements under this agreement”, the City then 

would be responsible for restoring to its original condition (per Section 3 of this license 

agreement). Other conditions of use were also described including the City removing “litter 

from the hedge and land east of the hedge on a regular basis”, prohibiting the City from 

“cutting and trimming the hedge presently on the east side of the parking area”, the City 

“limiting the number and placement of parking curbs and other improvements without 
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approval of the Licensor”, and the City “keeping and maintaining the natural state of the 

Property” (Section 4 of the License Agreement).  

The property owner has brought up concerns with drainage on this property to the City. The 

agreement does not appear to indicate anything requiring any drainage improvements on the 

property (as the Improvements refer to the preexisting parking lot, light pole, and signage, 

not the drainage swales on the owner’s property) by the City. In addition, the license 

agreement prohibits removal of the hedge east of the parking lot which appears to be within 

the area where drainage would occur and would thus likely be needed to improve drainage in 

this area.  

The City should review this license agreement further with their attorney to determine the 

responsibilities of the City in this agreement and may want to consider having a meeting with 

the property owner, the City, and the City’s attorney to discuss drainage responsibilities of 

each party.  

Blue Star Highway Drainage and Staybridge Development Drainage 

The final area reviewed was how Blue Star Highway’s roadway drainage (last improved in 

1996) drains into the Swingbridge property and how the drainage then heads west and then 

north into parcel 59-016-016-00. Per the approved drawings by the City of Douglas’ engineer 

back in 2010, the developer was required to construct a 1 foot flat bottom ditch a minimum 

of 1 foot deep with 1V:3H side slopes (see drawings below). This ditch does not appear to 

ever have been constructed (see photos below) as there does not appear to be a swale 

capturing this water within the Swingbridge Development and the 10 foot easement on parcel 

59-016-016-00. In addition, the location of the silt fence also suggests this swale was not 

suggested as the silt fence would have been located west of where the swale was located) as 

silt fence should beyond the limits of site disturbance but this silt fence is instead on the east 

side of the swale.  

The easement signed by Joseph Milauckas back in 2011 given to the City of Douglas on his 

parcel 59-016-016-00 indicated that “The Developer has agreed to undertake the initial 

construction and restoration of the drainage way” (Section 4 of the easement) and that “the 

City agrees to undertake the repair, maintenance, replacement, and improvement of the 

drainage way” in the future (Section 5 of the easement). With the drainage way not appearing 

to have been constructed, the development should construct this drainage way so that it does 

not continue to drain outside of the easement onto parcel 59-016-016-00.  

The City then would still be required to maintain the ditch that Blue Star Highway drains into 

while in the right-of-way as this is their responsibility due to it being the right-of-way. 

However, the Developer should then construct the remaining portion of the ditch up to the 18 

inch culvert per the drawings.  

In the future, it is not clear if the City then is responsible for the ditch on the development 

property as at the time of the writing the City did not locate a drainage and public utility 

easement from the Swingbridge development. The City should confirm these requirements 

with the development as this language would also cover not only drainage but also the City’s 

and KLSWA’s ability to maintain the water and sanitary sewer utilities in this easement. It is 
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clear though that in the future, the portion of the drainage way on parcel 59-016-016-00 does 

need to be maintained and improved by the City per the signed easement agreement.   

 

 
Blue Star Highway storm sewer drainage ditch within right-of-way (City responsibility) 

 
Blue Star Highway storm sewer drain outlet (12 inch) 
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Roadside ditch then drains north onto Swingbridge and Milauckas property. No swale appears to be constructed and notice 

silt fence east of where swale disturbance would have been.  

 

 
Roadside ditch then drains north onto Swingbridge and Milauckas property. No swale appears to be constructed and notice 

silt fence east of where swale disturbance would have been.  

 



1996 record plan
showing City of
Douglas storm sewer
drainage into a ditch
along Blue Star
Highway



2010 development
drawing showing
Milauckas existing
easement and how
drainage swale
should have been
constructed (see next
page which is 4 of 4)



City unable to find
drainage or utility
easement as noted
here on development
drawings as of
5/2/2025

Swale does not
appear to have ever
been constructed per
this detail.
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February 17, 2010
Project No. G100033

Mr. Ryan Kilpatrick
City Planner
City of the Village of Douglas
86 West Center Street
Douglas, MI 49406

Re: Swing Bridge Development

Dear Ryan:

We have reviewed the site plans for the referenced project dated February 11, 2010, consisting 
of Sheets 1 through 4 and labeled as: G1.7, C1.7, C2.7, and DET1.7.

Based on our review of these plans, our discussions with Mr. Tom Desmet at KLSWA, and our 
discussions with Mr. Glen Pomp at the Allegan County Drain Commissioners office, it appears 
that the developer has addressed all of the review comments noted in our original review letter 
dated January 20, 2010, in our meeting with the developer’s engineer on February 2, 2010, and 
in our e-mail on February 11, 2010.

If you have any questions or require additional information, please contact me at 616-464-3946.

Sincerely,

FISHBECK, THOMPSON, CARR & HUBER, INC.

Brian G. Vilmont, P.E.

tlc
By e-mail
cc: Mr. Brent DeRose - Nederveld and Associates 

Final plan review letter from 2010



Swingbridge drainage way
easement 2011









Union Street Boat Launch
revocable license agreement












